IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE LAS VEGAS REVIEW JOURNAL, Appellant,

vs.

CITY OF HENDERSON,

CASE NO.: 81758

Electronically Filed

Jan 14 2021 06:57 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Trevor L. Atkin, District Judge District Court Case No. A-16-747289-W

Margaret A. McLetchie, Nevada Bar No. 10931 Alina M. Shell, Nevada Bar No. 11711 MCLETCHIE LAW 701 East Bridger Ave., Suite 520 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: (702) 728-5300; Fax: (702) 425-8220 Email: maggie@nvlitigation.com *Counsel for The Las Vegas Review-Journal*

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
ROUTING STATEMENT1
ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
II. STATEMENT OF FACTS8
A. Henderson Denies the Review-Journal's Request for Access to Public Records
B. The Review-Journal Attempts to Resolve the Matter with Henderson, But When No Resolution Is Possible, the Review-Journal Petitions the District Court
C. The Review-Journal Requested Copies of the Requested Records After Henderson Agreed to In-Person Inspection10
D. Henderson Finally Provides Some of the Requested Copies Records at the Hearing on the Amended Petition
E. The Review-Journal Sought Attorney's Fees
F. Appellate Proceedings12
G. Post-Appeal, Henderson Discloses Records Previously Withheld Pursuant to the Deliberative Process Privilege
H. The Review-Journal's Post-Remand Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs
III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

IV. ARGUMENT
A. The Newly Adopted Catalyst Theory20
B. The Court Failed to Correctly Apply the <i>CIR</i> Factors23
1. The District Court Erred By Declining to Consider That the Litigation Caused Henderson to Provide Copies of Many of the Records Without Charge
2. Henderson Produced Public Records Without Charging its Disputed Fees After the Review-Journal Petitioned the District Court27
3. The Litigation Triggered Henderson's Decision to Release the Requested Public Records
4. The Review-Journal Was Entitled to the Records at the Time of Its Records Request
5. The Litigation Was Reasonable
6. The Review-Journal Sufficiently Attempted to Resolve Its Dispute With Henderson Prior to Filing Suit
V. CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE42
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

<i>Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank,</i> 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969)11
Church of Scientology of California v. U.S. Postal Serv., 700 F.2d 486 (9th Cir. 1983)29
City of Henderson v. Las Vegas Review-Journal, 450 P.3d 387, 2019 WL 5290874 (Nev. 2019) passim
<i>First Amendment Coal. v. United States Dep't of Justice,</i> 878 F.3d 1119 (9th Cir. 2017)
<i>Frank Settelmeyer & Sons, Inc. v. Smith & Harmer, Ltd.,</i> 124 Nev. 1206, 197 P.3d 1051(2008)19
<i>Graham v. DaimlerChrysler Corp.</i> , 34 Cal. 4th 553, 101 P.3d 140 (2004)
Jackson v. State, 117 Nev. 116, 17 P.3d 998 (2001)19
Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't v. Ctr. for Investigative Reporting, Inc., 136 Nev. 122, 460 P.3d 952 (2020) passim
Mason v. City of Hoboken, 196 N.J. 51, 951 A.2d 1017 (2008)
<i>Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Gibbons,</i> 127 Nev. 873, 266 P.3d 623 (2011)20
<i>Review-Journal v. City of Henderson</i> , 441 P.3d 546, 2019 WL 2252868 (Nev., May 24, 2019) 5, 12, 13
<i>Thomas v. City of North Las Vegas</i> , 122 Nev. 82, 127 P.3d 1057 (2006)19

Westside Cmty. for Indep. Living, Inc. v. Obledo, 33 Cal. 3d 348, 657 P.2d 365 (1983)
Statutes
Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5 36, 37
N.J. Stat. Ann. § 47:1A-5
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.001 22, 37
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.010
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.0107
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011 passim
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.055 passim
Rules
NRAP 3A1
NRAP 4
NRAP 171

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The district court's August 4, 2020, order denying Las Vegas Review-Journal, Inc.'s ("Review-Journal") motion for attorney's fees and costs is a final order in the underlying action (XI JA1600-07¹), as defined by Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 3A(b)(1). The Review-Journal filed a timely notice of appeal on September 3, 2020. *See* NRAP 4(a)(1) (providing that a notice of appeal in a civil case must be filed no later than 30 days after entry of a written judgment or order). Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction over this matter.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because it is not a matter which would be presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b). Moreover, this Court should retain jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11) and (12) because it raises a question of both first impression and statewide importance about a prevailing requester's entitlement to reasonable attorney's fees and costs under the Nevada Public Records Act and how to apply the adoption of the catalyst theory in *Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't v. Ctr. for Investigative Reporting, Inc.*, 136 Nev. 122, 460 P.3d 952 (2020).

¹ For the Court's ease of reference, citations to the Joint Appendix ("JA") cite to both volume and page number. Hence, "IX JA1600-07" refers to Volume IX of the Joint Appendix at pages 1600 through 1607.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the district court erred in denying the Review-Journal's motion for reasonable attorney's fees and costs in a public records matter in which the Review-Journal established a causal nexus between its litigation to obtain access to public records and the City of Henderson's decisions to (1) produce copies of thousands of pages of requested records at no cost after refusing to even process the records request without payment of a fee to conduct a privilege review, and (2) produce copies of documents it had previously withheld pursuant to the deliberative process privilege after reversal and remand by this Court for a determination of whether Henderson had satisfied its burden of establishing that its interests in nondisclosure outweighed the public's interest in access.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Review-Journal appeals the district court's denial of attorneys' fees that, based on this Court's "catalyst theory," the Review-Journal is entitled to recoup. As a broad overview of the facts of this case demonstrate, this is a classic case of the catalyst theory. The Review-Journal requested records from Henderson. Henderson refused to provide them unless the Review-Journal paid fees for the records. The Review-Journal explained it thought the fees were illegal. City of Henderson ("Henderson") stood by its decision, so the Review-Journal filed suit. After the lawsuit was filed, Henderson also asserted some of the records would not be produced even if the fees were paid based on asserted privileges. At a hearing, Henderson changed its position and provided most of the records without charging the fees the demand for which precipitated the litigation. That was the first time the litigation was the catalyst. The district court then ruled the privileges applied and the remaining records could be withheld. The Review-Journal appealed, and this Court reversed as to one of the privilege claims and remanded the case, requiring Henderson to overcome a burden to establish whether it could rely on the privilege. On remand, in reaction to this Court's ruling, Henderson changed its position on the privilege issue and provided the records—the second catalyst. As a result of the litigation, Henderson changed its position first on fees then on one of the privileges, and the Review-Journal achieved what it sought in filing the case. This is the classic case of the catalyst theory.

Taking a step back with more detail, the instant appeal seeks review of an order entered by the district court denying the Review-Journal's motion for attorney fees and costs in a petition brought pursuant to the Nevada Public Records Act ("NPRA"), Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011. The Review-Journal sought judicial intervention in this case on November 29, 2016, after the City of Henderson ("Henderson") refused an October 4, 2016, public records request. The request sought disclosure of public records pertaining to Henderson's retention of a public relations/communications professional and firm that also worked on many

Henderson officials' campaigns. Henderson refused to provide the records unless the Review-Journal agreed to pay it \$5,787.89 for the supposed "extraordinary use" of Henderson personnel and resources in producing the requested records.

Fifteen days after the Review-Journal petitioned the district court, Henderson permitted the Review-Journal to conduct an in-person inspection of some of the records while the litigation was pending. (II JA0241.) Afterwards, the Review-Journal reiterated its request for copies of the records. However, Henderson continued to refuse to provide the records without being paid the exorbitant sums. (II JA0365.) In addition, for the first time, Henderson took the further position that some of the records would never be provided or even made available for inspection based on Henderson's claim it could keep those records confidential based on the deliberative process privilege and attorney-client privilege. (I JA0069-0074.) The litigation, therefore, continued.

At a subsequent hearing on the Petition, after inquiries from the court pressing Henderson on some of the issues, Henderson changed its position and agreed to provide the Review-Journal copies of some of the records. Henderson continued to refuse to provide the records it claimed were subject to the deliberative process privilege and the attorney-client privilege.

After the hearing, the district court entered an order that, among other things, made two rulings relevant to this appeal. First, the district court denied the Review-

4

Journal's request for access to the documents withheld on the basis of the deliberative process privilege and attorney-client/work product privilege. Next, because the other documents had by this time been produced without charge as a result of Henderson's change in position during the court hearing, the district court denied as moot the request for copies of those remaining documents. (III JA0446-451.)

The Review-Journal appealed, among other things, the district court's ruling that the deliberative process privilege and attorney-client privilege applied to the some of the documents and appealed the district court's decision that Henderson's decision during the litigation to provide the records to the Review-Journal without charge mooted the Review-Journal's Petition to the extent it related to those provided records. This Court resolved the appeal in an unpublished disposition, reversing the district court's denial of the Review-Journal's petition in part and finding the district court had failed to consider whether Henderson had proven by a preponderance of the evidence that documents it had withheld based on the deliberative process privilege were subject to withholding. *Review-Journal v. City of Henderson*, 441 P.3d 546, 2019 WL 2252868 at *4 (Nev., May 24, 2019).

Once this case had been remanded by this Court with an order that would require Henderson to provide evidence and meet its burden on the deliberative process privilege, on July 24, 2019, Henderson changed its position related to the deliberative process privilege and provided the Review-Journal the public records Henderson had withheld pursuant to the privilege. (V JA0750.)

The Review-Journal then moved the district court for an award of its reasonable attorney's fees and costs pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011(2) and the "catalyst theory" this Court adopted in Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't v. Ctr. for Investigative Reporting, Inc., 136 Nev. 122, 460 P.3d 952 (2020) ("CIR"). (V JA0731-960; VI JA1126-48.) The Review-Journal asserted that although the district court had denied its petition as moot, the Review-Journal had nevertheless prevailed for the purposes of a fee award under Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011(2) because its petition had caused Henderson to substantially change its behavior in the manner sought by the Review-Journal in the litigation by (1) disclosing copies of some of the requested records to the Review-Journal without charging a fee for "extraordinary use" of Henderson personnel and resources only after the hearing on the Review-Journal's petition, and (2) disclosing copies of the documents Henderson had withheld pursuant to the deliberative process privilege only after this Court reversed the district court's finding and remanded the case with the requirement that Henderson overcome a burden of establishing the records were subject to the privilege.

The district court conducted a hearing on attorneys' fees and costs on June 18, 2020. (VIII JA1572-99.) On August 4, 2020, the district court entered a decision and

6

order denying the Review-Journal's request for fees and costs. (IX JA1600-07.) The district court committed reversible error in several ways. First, as set forth below, the district court improperly limited its analysis to the 11 documents Henderson disclosed after remand. (IX JA1605.) Second, the district court's decision lacked specific factual findings as the case law requires in a "catalyst theory" analysis. Third, the district court failed to conduct a meaningful analysis of the catalyst theory factors set forth in Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't v. Ctr. for Investigative Reporting, Inc., 136 Nev. 122, 460 P.3d 952 (2020). As part of its failure to conduct a meaningful analysis, the district court (a) ignored the undisputed facts that demonstrate the Review-Journal prevailed in its goal of obtaining access to public records; and (b) erred as a matter of law when it concluded the litigation did not cause Henderson to change its position and provide the records, particularly in light of Henderson's admission that it provided some of the records simply to avoid continuing the litigation.

Had the district court conducted the inquiry required by *CIR* and the cases that underpin it, the court would have determined that the Review-Journal was indeed a prevailing party, and therefore entitled to an award of its reasonable attorney's fees and costs. This Court should do what the district court failed to do: apply the undisputed facts to the legal framework set forth in *CIR* and find that the Review-Journal is entitled to an award of its reasonable fees and costs in this matter.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Henderson Denies the Review-Journal's Request for Access to Public Records.

On October 4, 2016, the Review-Journal sent Henderson a request pursuant to the NPRA seeking certain documents dated from January 1, 2016, forward pertaining to Trosper Communications and its principal, Elizabeth Trosper. (I JA0012-15.) Trosper Communications is a communications firm that had a contract with the City of Henderson and had assisted with the campaigns of elected officials in Henderson prior to obtaining the contract with the City. (I JA0014.)

Henderson did not provide the requested records. Instead, on October 11, 2016, Henderson indicated that it was "in [the] process of searching for and gathering responsive e-mails and other documents," but estimated it would take approximately three weeks to fulfill the request. (I JA0017.) Importantly, Henderson stated it intended to withhold the documents until the Review-Journal paid \$5,787.89 for what Henderson claimed was the "extraordinary use" of Henderson personnel to "review and read" the requested records, citing Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.055, Henderson Municipal Code 2.47.085, and Henderson's Public Records Policy. (*Id.*; *see also* I JA0019-23.) Henderson also stated that pursuant to its Public Records Policy it would not continue searching for responsive documents and reviewing them for privilege unless the Review-Journal paid a "deposit" of \$2,893.94." (I JA0017.)

B. The Review-Journal Attempts to Resolve the Matter with Henderson, But When No Resolution Is Possible, the Review-Journal Petitions the District Court.

After receiving the money-demand email from Henderson, counsel for the Review-Journal contacted a deputy City Attorney regarding the Review-Journal's concerns with Henderson's demand for fees just to search for and review the requested records. (II JA0302-03; II JA0325-26.) On November 29, 2016, after nearly two months of efforts to resolve this dispute failed, the Review-Journal was forced to petition the district court to obtain access to the requested records without having to pay the fees demanded by Henderson. (I JA0001-0023.)²

On December 20, 2016, Henderson produced a privilege log of withheld records (I JA0058-0060), and subsequently produced revised versions of the privilege log after the Review-Journal requested additional information. (*See generally* I JA0062-0074.) In the logs, for the first time, Henderson refused on various claimed privilege grounds to produce some of the records even if the Review-Journal agreed to pay the demanded fees. The Review-Journal then amended its petition to not only challenge the illegal fees, but to challenge the claimed privileges, as well. (*See generally* I JA0030-0168.) In the amended petition,

² The Review-Journal also sought declaratory and injunctive relief to address the rights of the parties and the applicability of Henderson's Municipal Code and Public Records Policy. (*See generally id.*)

the Review-Journal again asked the district court to order Henderson to "immediately make available complete copies of all records requested." (I JA0041.) Henderson continued to withhold the records.

C. The Review-Journal Requested Copies of the Requested Records After Henderson Agreed to In-Person Inspection.

After the Review-Journal filed suit, counsel for the Review-Journal met and conferred with Henderson City Attorneys. The parties each continued to take the positions on the issues they had taken prior to and thus far in the litigation, but Henderson changed its pre-litigation position, entering into an interim agreement with the Review-Journal to allow a Review-Journal reporter to inspect the records while litigation was pending. (II JA0241; I JA0027.)

After the in-person inspection, Counsel for the Review-Journal asked for electronic copies of the limited records reviewed. (II JA0365.) Henderson refused this request. (*Id.*)

D. Henderson Finally Provides Some of the Requested Copies Records at the Hearing on the Amended Petition.

The district court conducted a hearing on the Review-Journal's amended petition on March 30, 2017. (Minutes and transcript of 3/30/17 hearing.) During the hearing, which took place four months after the Review-Journal filed its Petition and nearly six months after the Review-Journal requested the records, counsel for Henderson changed its position and agreed to the Review-Journal's demand for access to many of the requested documents without charge after it became plain that the district court intended to order Henderson to do so. (III JA0426-28.) At the conclusion of the hearing, the district court directed Henderson to provide the Review-Journal with a "USB drive with [the requested documents] on it." (II JA0444.) Subsequently, on May 15, 2017, the district court entered an order finding that Henderson's privilege log was sufficient and denying the amended petition as moot even though the court ordered the most significant relief sought: access to the records. (III JA0446-51.)

E. The Review-Journal Sought Attorney's Fees.

Because it obtained access to records as a result of the litigation it initiated, the Review-Journal filed a motion on June 1, 2017, pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011(2) seeking an award of \$30,931.50 in attorney's fees and \$902.84 in costs. (III JA0452-0523.) The district court conducted an initial hearing on that motion on August 3, 2017, at the end of which the court asked the parties to return a week later for its decision. (IV JA0657-0682.) At the subsequent August 10, 2017, hearing, the district court found that the Review-Journal was a prevailing party because it had obtained copies of most of the requested records. (IV JA0688.) The district court stated it had considered the *Brunzell*³ factors and arguments Henderson had made

³ Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969).

regarding a reduced award for the work performed by Review-Journal counsel and had determined the Review-Journal was entitled all its costs, but only \$9,010.00 of the \$30,931.50 requested attorney's fees. (IV JA0689-0690.)

F. Appellate Proceedings

The Review-Journal appealed the district court's technical denial of the Amended Petition as moot, including the issue of mootness as it applied to the records finally produced and the district court's ruling that the asserted privileges applied to some of the documents being sought. (*See* Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 73287 ("Petition Appeal").). In addition, each party appealed the district court's award of attorney's fees (Case No. 75407 ("Fees Appeal").)

In the Petition Appeal, on May 24, 2019, this Court issued an unpublished disposition affirming in part and reversing in part the district court's denial of the Review-Journal's amended petition. *See Las Vegas Review-Journal v. City of Henderson*, 441 P.3d 546, 2019 WL 2252868 (Nev. 2019) (unpublished). Of relevance to this appeal, the Court agreed with the Review-Journal's assertion that the district court had failed to consider whether Henderson had proved by a preponderance of evidence that a number of documents it had declined to disclose were properly withheld pursuant to the deliberative process privilege and thus "that its interest in nondisclosure clearly outweighs the public's interest in access." This Court therefore reversed and remanded the matter to the district court to conduct that

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