Case No. 81758

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Mar 02 2021 03:34 p.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

LAS VEGAS REVIEW-JOURNAL,

Appellant, Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

CITY OF HENDERSON.

Respondent.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada Honorable Judge Trevor L. Atkin, Case No. A-16-747289-W

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

NICHOLAS G. VASKOV

CITY ATTORNEY

Nevada Bar No. 8298

BRANDON P. KEMBLE

ASSISTANT CITY ATTORNEY

Nevada Bar No. 11175

BRIAN R. REEVE

ASSISTANT CITY ATTORNEY

Nevada Bar No. 10197

CITY OF HENDERSON

240 Water Street, MSC 144

Henderson, Nevada 89015

Telephone: 702.267.1231

Facsimile: 702.267.1201

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the District Court's order denying LVRJ's

Amended Fee Motion for at least three reasons. First, under the law of the case doctrine, the District Court correctly declined to apply the catalyst theory to

Henderson's disclosure of the roughly 70,000 pages of non-privileged documents. Specifically, the District Court acknowledged this Court's orders in the Petition Appeal and the Fee Appeal and correctly determined that, based on those orders, LVRJ was not a prevailing party on the issues that were already decided in those orders.

Second, while the District Court correctly concluded that LVRJ was not a prevailing party under the catalyst theory, it need not have ever considered the

catalyst theory in denying LVRJ's Amended Fee Motion. This is because the catalyst theory does not apply when a party complies with the NPRA in responding to a public records request, never denies the request, and ultimately obtains a judgment in its favor. Thus, the Court should affirm the District Court's denial of LVRJ's Amended Fee Motion, but should do so on the separate basis that LVRJ was not a prevailing party under the "standard" prevailing party analysis, *i.e.*, because LVRJ had not obtained a judgment in its favor on any significant issue in the litigation.

Third, even though the catalyst theory was inapplicable to this case, the District Court correctly found that LVRJ was not a prevailing party under the catalyst theory as to the DPP Documents by utilizing the *CIR* factors. Simply stated, it was LVRJ's burden to demonstrate that the "threat of victory" posed by its lawsuit caused Henderson to disclose the DPP Documents, and it failed to do so. Each of the five *CIR* factors weighs heavily in Henderson's favor.

To the extent the Court determines that LVRJ is entitled attorney's fees and costs, it should only award an amount that is commensurate with LVRJ's "success" in obtaining the 11 DPP Documents. Despite losing on every issue decided by the Court in the Petition Appeal and Fee Appeal, LVRJ seeks all of its attorney's fees and costs from the inception of the case as if it had won on all

of its claims for relief. Such a request is neither reasonable nor warranted under the law given the numerous, entirely separate, issues raised in this case that LVRJ lost and the fact that LVRJ failed on each of its claims for relief.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The decision whether to award attorney's fees is within the sound discretion of the district court." *Thomas v. City of North Las Vegas*, 122 Nev. 82, 90, 127 P.3d 1057, 1063 (2006). Accordingly, this Court "review[s] decisions awarding or denying attorney fees for 'a manifest abuse of discretion." *Id.* "An abuse of discretion occurs when no reasonable judge could reach a similar conclusion under the same circumstances." *Leavitt v. Siems*, 130 Nev. 503, 509, 330 P.3d 1, 5 (2014). Further, "[a]n abuse of discretion can occur when the district court bases its decision on a clearly erroneous factual determination or disregards controlling law." *Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't v. Blackjack Bonding, Inc.*, 131 Nev. 80, 89, 343 P.3d 608, 614 (2015).

In *Logan v. Abe*, when discussing the *Brunzell* factors that a district court must consider in determining an award of attorney's fees, this Court explained that "[w]hile it is preferable for a district court to expressly analyze each factor relating to an award of attorney fees, express findings on each factor are not

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

necessary for a district court to properly exercise its discretion." 131 Nev. 260, 266, 350 P.3d 1139, 1143 (2015). "Instead, the district court need only demonstrate that it considered the required factors, and the award must be supported by substantial evidence." *Id.* This same principle should apply when a district court is considering the CIR factors for the purpose of determining whether a public records requestor is a prevailing party under the catalyst theory. See CIR, 136 Nev. 122, 128, 460 P.3d 952, 957-58 (2020).

VI. **ARGUMENT**

A. The District Court Correctly Declined to Apply the Catalyst Theory to Henderson's Disclosure of the 70,000 Pages of Non-**Privileged Documents.**

The District Court correctly declined to apply the catalyst theory to Henderson's disclosure of the 70,000 pages of non-privileged documents in light of this Court's orders in the Petition Appeal and Fee Appeal, and the law of the case doctrine. (IXJA1605:6-14.)

"The doctrine of the law of the case provides that the law or ruling of a first appeal must be followed in all subsequent proceedings, both in the lower court and on any later appeal." Hsu v. Cnty. of Clark, 123 Nev. 625, 629, 173 P.3d 724, 728 (2007). The doctrine "is designed to ensure judicial consistency and to prevent the reconsideration, during the course of a single continuous

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

lawsuit, of those decisions which are intended to put a particular matter to rest." *Id.* at 630, 173 P.3d at 728 (internal quotation omitted).

"The law of the case doctrine, therefore, serves important policy considerations, including judicial consistency, finality, and protection of the court's integrity." Id. Given these policy considerations, a court should only depart from a prior holding under "extraordinary circumstances" if it is "convinced that it is clearly erroneous and would work a manifest injustice." *Id.* at 630-31, 173 P.3d at 729-30 (internal quotation omitted).

In *Hsu*, the Court recognized that in some instances, "equitable considerations" may "justify a departure from the law of the case doctrine" and determined that "when controlling law . . . is substantively changed during the pendency of a remanded matter . . ., courts of this state may apply that change to do substantial justice." *Id.* at 629, 632, 173 P.3d at 728, 729-30. In other words, courts have discretion to apply the new law instead of following the law of the case if it is necessary to do substantial justice. This case does not present such an "extraordinary circumstance" and, therefore, the District Court correctly adhered to the law of the case and declined to apply the catalyst theory to Henderson's disclosure of the non-privileged documents.

/// 19

In the Petition Appeal, this Court: (1) affirmed the District Court's
mootness determination regarding public records fees; (2) affirmed the District
Court's determination that Henderson's Initial Response to LVRJ's Request
complied with the NPRA; (3) found that "Henderson did not deny LVRJ's
request"; (4) affirmed the District Court's determination that Henderson's
privilege log complied with the NPRA with respect to the documents withheld
under the attorney-client privilege; and (5) ruled that Henderson "did not waive
its right to assert privileges in the records LVRJ requested by not providing a
completed privilege log within five business days of LVRJ's request."
(VIIIJA1405-1413.) This Court reversed the District Court on the singular
issue of the 11 DPP Documents and remanded solely for the District Court to
determine whether Henderson's interest in non-disclosure of the DPP
Documents clearly outweighed the public's interest in access to the documents.
(VIIIJA1412.)
While the case pertaining to the confidentiality of the 11 DPP Documents
was pending in the District Court, this Court issued a ruling in the Fee Appeal
reversing the District Court's partial award of attorney's fees to LVRJ.
(VIIIJA1525-1530.) The Court explained:
///

[The LVRJ moved for attorney fees, which the [D]istrict [C]ourt granted in part, concluding that the LVRJ had prevailed in its action to obtain access to records from [Henderson] but awarding less than the amount LVRJ requested. . . . We conclude that the [D]istrict [C]ourt erred in concluding that, despite failing on the claims for relief as set forth in its writ petition, the LVRJ nevertheless prevailed in its public records action and was entitled to attorney fees under the NPRA. Accordingly, we reverse the [D]istrict [C]ourt's partial award of attorney fees to the LVRJ.

6

7

8

12

13

15

16

17

18

19

1

2

3

4

5

(VIIIJA1526 (emphasis added).) This Court reiterated that "[t]o qualify

as a prevailing party in a public records action, the requester must

9 succeed[] on any significant issue in litigation which achieves some of

the benefit sought in bringing suit." (VIIIJA1527 (emphasis in original) 10

11 (internal quotation omitted).) The Court concluded: "Here, as the

[D]istrict [C]ourt recognized in its order, the LVRJ has not succeeded on

any of the issues that it raised in filing the underlying action." (Id.

(emphasis added).) 14

> The Court explained that LVRJ had "failed on each of the[] objectives" it sought to achieve in filing its Amended Petition, with the exception of the DPP Documents, which "ha[d] not yet proceeded to judgment. (VIIIJA1528.) With respect to the DPP Documents, the Court concluded that "the LVRJ cannot be a 'prevailing party' as to that issue

before the action has proceeded to a final judgment." (VIIIJA1529.) But
as to the rest of the case, <i>i.e.</i> , all of the other issues previously decided in
favor of Henderson in the Petition Appeal, LVRJ was not a prevailing
party and, therefore, the Court reversed the District Court's partial award
of attorney's fees and costs. (VIIIJA1526, JA1529 n.2 ("Because we
conclude that the LVRJ did not prevail in its underlying public records
action and is not entitled to attorney fees, we need not address the
LVRJ's cross-appeal argument that the [D]istrict [C]ourt erred in
awarding a reduced amount of attorney fees and costs.").)

Turning to the instant appeal, the District Court's order denying LVRJ's Amended Fee Motion acknowledged this Court's orders in the Petition Appeal and Fee Appeal and rightly concluded that "for the most part, the law of this case has already been established as it pertains to the LVRJ's NPRA records request and HENDERSON's response thereto." (IXJA1605:8-9.) The District Court determined that "with the exception of the 11 documents withheld by HENDERSON on its asserted deliberative process privilege, . . . 'the LVRJ has not succeeded on any of the issues that it raised in filing the underlying action," and correctly concluded that LVRJ did not prevail on any of the issues that had previously been decided in the Petition and Fee Appeals.

6
7
8
9
10

(IXJA1605:9-14.) Accordingly, the District Court limited its catalyst theory
analysis to the disclosure of the DPP Documents. (IXJA1605:13-14.)
LVRJ argues that "[t]he [D]istrict [C]ourt's decision to not consider
Henderson's prior disclosure of records to [LVRJ] was premised on a
misapprehension of this Court's decision in the Fee Appeal." (O.B. at 26:17-
19.) But it is LVRJ that misapprehends the Court's decision in the Fee Appea
Judge Bailus awarded LVRJ a portion of its fees and costs because LVRJ had
prevailed by obtaining access to the non-privileged records after LVRJ filed
suit. (VIIIJA1522:13-14.) This Court, however, expressly <i>reversed</i> Judge
Bailus' fee award and held that LVRJ was not a prevailing party.
(VIIIJA1526.) As this Court pointed out, LVRJ not only failed on each of its
claims for relief in the Amended Petition, but also "has not succeeded on any
of the issues that it raised in filing the underlying action." (VIIIJA1527
(emphasis added).) Accordingly, there was no basis for the District Court to g
back and revisit any of the issues previously decided by this Court, including
this Court's determination that LVRJ had failed to prevail on any of these
issues. Therefore, the District Court correctly determined that LVRJ was not
prevailing party as to those issues and appropriately limited its prevailing part
analysis to the DPP Documents. (IXJA1605:9-14.)

any significant issue in the litigation.

B. The Catalyst Theory Does Not Apply Under the Facts and Circumstances of This Case.

The catalyst theory does not apply under the facts and circumstances of this case because Henderson's Initial Response complied with the NPRA, the Initial Response never denied LVRJ's Request, and Henderson obtained an order in its favor denying LVRJ's Amended Petition. While the District Court should not have used the catalyst theory in reaching its ultimate conclusion -denial of LVRJ's Amended Fee Motion — its decision was nonetheless correct, albeit on different grounds. The Court should affirm the District Court's denial of LVRJ's Amended Motion, but should do so on the separate basis that LVRJ was not a prevailing party because it had not obtained a judgment in its favor on

A court may not award attorney fees unless it is authorized by statute, agreement, or rule. *State, Dep't of Human Res., Welfare Div. v. Fowler*, 109

Nev. 782, 784, 858 P.2d 375, 376 (1993). Under the NPRA, "[i]f a governmental entity *denies a public records request*, the requester may seek a court order compelling production." *CIR*, 136 Nev. at 123, 460 P.3d at 954; (emphasis added); NRS 239.011(1). If the requester prevails in the court action,

BAILEY * KENNEDY	8984 SPANISH RIDGE AVENUE LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89148-1302 702.562.8820	

the requester is entitled to attorney's fees and costs. CIR, 136 Nev. at 123, 460
P.3d at 954; NRS 239.011(2).
In Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department v. Blackjack Bonding,
<i>Inc.</i> , the Court explained that "[a] party prevails if it succeeds on any significant
issue in litigation which achieves some of the benefit it sought in bringing suit."
131 Nev. 80, 90, 343 P.3d 608, 615 (2015) (internal quotation omitted). Over
time, this Court has provided additional clarification for the term "prevailing
party." In Golightly & Vannah, PLLC v. TJ Allen, LLC, 132 Nev. 416, 373
P.3d 103 (2016), the Court explained that "[a] prevailing party must win on at
least one of its claims." <i>Id.</i> at 422, 373 P.3d at 107. Further, in <i>Dimick v</i> .
Dimick, 112 Nev. 402, 915 P.2d 254 (1996), this Court held that "a party cannot
be a 'prevailing party' where the action has not proceeded to judgment." <i>Id.</i> at
404, 915 P.2d at 256. Relying on <i>Dimick</i> in the Fee Appeal, this Court
expressly held that "LVRJ cannot be a 'prevailing party' as to that issue [the
confidentiality of the DPP Documents] before the action has proceeded to a
final judgment." (VIIIJA1529.)

Recently in *CIR*, this Court approved the usage of the catalyst theory in certain public records cases to determine whether a requester prevailed in a public records action. Under the catalyst theory, a party is deemed to prevail,

	7
	8
	9
1	0

and thus may be entitled to attorney's fees, if a public records lawsuit causes a
governmental body to "substantially change its behavior," even when the
litigation does not result in a judgment on the merits. CIR, 136 Nev. 122, 128,
460 P.3d 952, 957 (2020). The policy reason supporting the catalyst theory is
"the potential for government abuse in that an agency otherwise could <i>deny</i>
access, vigorously defend against a lawsuit, and then unilaterally disclose the
documents sought at the eleventh hour to avoid the entry of a court order and
the resulting award of attorney's fees." <i>Id.</i> at 127, 460 P.3d at 957 (emphasis
added) (internal quotation omitted).

Thus, under NRS 239.011, and the foregoing policy rationale, a necessary precondition to the application of the catalyst theory is: (1) the denial of access to public records and/or noncompliance with the NPRA; and (2) the eleventh-hour disclosure to avoid entry of a court order on the merits. In the absence of a denial of public records, a requester is not authorized to file an action under the NPRA and the policy justification for applying the catalyst theory is nonexistent. A requestor should not be rewarded with attorney's fees via the catalyst theory by rushing to file suit. Moreover, when there is no denial, who is to say a subsequent disclosure of documents was caused by the ///

\mathbf{EDY}	NUE	3-1302	
Y * KENN	1984 SPANISH RIDGE AVENUE	AS, NEVADA 89148 702.562.8820	
AILE	984 SPA	AS VEGAS.	

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

filing of a lawsuit, as opposed to the	government providing the documents
because they were not being withhele	d.

In addition, the catalyst theory contemplates a situation where the

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